IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-KA-01186-SCT

RODNEY SANDS

APPELLANT

V.

4

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

George T. Holmes, MSB No. MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS 301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-KA-01186-SCT

RODNEY SANDS

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER RODNEY SAND'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUSTAINED?
- ISSUE NO. 2: DOES THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE SUPPORT CONVICTIONS FOR MANSLAUGHTER AND AGGRAVATED ASSAULT AGAINST RODNEY SANDS?
- ISSUE NO. 3: WAS JURY INSTRUCTION S-9 REGARDING AIDING AND ABETTING IMPROPER AND PREJUDICIAL?
- ISSUE NO. 4: WAS IT ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO ALLOW BAD CHARACTER EVIDENCE?
- ISSUE NO. 5: WHETHER JUROR MISCONDUCT TAINTS THE VERDICTS?
- ISSUE NO. 6: IS COUNT THREE OF THE INDICTMENT IS FATALLY DEFECTIVE?
- ISSUE NO. 7: WAS RODNEY SANDS PREJUDICED BY INEFFECTIVE COUNSEL?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Jefferson Davis County,

Mississippi where Rodney Sands was convicted of two counts of manslaughter and one count of aggravated assault. A jury trial was conducted March 30-April 1, 2009, with Honorable Prentiss G. Harrell, Circuit Judge, presiding. Rodney Sands was sentenced to twenty years for each count, consecutive, and is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

Rodney Sands and his co-defendant, Aqui Demetrius Rhodes, were tried jointly. Rhodes was convicted of two counts of murder and one count of aggravated assault.

FACTS

On July 7, 2006, around 6:00 p. m., Randolph Sands and Robert McInnis were killed in a shoot-out on the grounds of the Church of Christ on Mississippi Highway 84, just outside the city limits of Prentiss, where Granby Road runs into the highway. [T. 84, 87, 93, 95, 104]. Jefferson Davis County Sheriff's deputies and Prentiss Police responded immediately, and investigated the incident with the Mississippi Bureau of Investigations. [T. 84, 87, 93, 95, 104, 379]. The appellant Rodney Sands and Aqui Demetrius Rhodes were charged with murder in relation to the two deaths and were also charged with an aggravated assault count to have been committed against Jason McNair who was also involved in the fray. [R. 11-12; R. E. 16-17].

The Crime Scenes

Responding officers found the body of Randolph Sands laying face down next to a house across Granby Road on the same side of the highway as the church. [T. 85, 91, 96, 380]. The woman living at this house told officers that she did not hear any shooting. [T. 84, 88, 91]. Officers secured Randolph Sands' body and an area at the church where shell casings were found, along with other evidence. [T. 85-90, 95-97, 102, 104, 109, 111-113].

While on the scene at the church, and house across the street, law enforcement received a call that "a crowd [was] building up at the hospital" in Prentiss [T. 98-99, 380-81; Ex. 88A]. At the entrance of the hospital emergency room, in the parking lot, a brown Pontiac automobile was taped off with crime scene tape. [T. 99; Exs. 38, 61]. Sheriff's Investigator Ronnie Barnes, who responded to the hospital, briefly spoke with Jason McNair, who was being treated for a gun shot wound in the emergency room. [T. 381].

Inside the Pontiac there was a marijuana blunt, a .40 caliber Kel-Tec¹ semiautomatic pistol on the driver side rear floorboard, a brand new 7.62 mm assault rifle in the trunk, three spent .45 caliber projectiles (two in the rear seat area, one in the front), and twelve shell casings, as follows: four .40 caliber Smith & Wesson casings (two in the back seat, one in front, one on the ground), two .45 caliber Remington-Peters casings (one in the back seat, one in the front), six .45 caliber Winchester casings (three in the rear seat area, three in the front). [T. 115, 122, 124-26, 139, 154-60, 163-64, 171-72, 184-85, 187, 190, 195, 200-04, 402-03; Exs. 13, 30-59, 61, 81, 88]. There were no identifiable fingerprints on the rifle or pistol. [T. 209-10; Ex. 62].

The rear window of the Pontiac was shattered out, broken glass was in the interior of the vehicle. [T. 161; Exs. 38-61]. Apparent blood stains were on the seats. [T. 164; Ex. 60, 92].

¹ Referred to in the transcript as a "Celtic" .40 caliber pistol.

Back at the church, officers found, on the ground, one athletic shoe, a t-shirt with some possible blood stains, broken automobile windshield glass, one spent projectile, eight shell casings (three .45 caliber Remington-Peters, four .45 caliber Winchester and one .40 caliber Smith &Wesson), a bag of live ammunition for a .223 caliber rifle (5.56 millimeter, incompatible with the assault rifle) was found at the far corner of the church near a .45 caliber Taurus brand magazine (clip) also retrieved. [T. 114, 118-22, 125, 128-30, 141-54, 156, 182-83, 190-92, 194, 196; Exs. 6, 7, 8, 10, 12-29].

A computer generated diagram of the church crime scene was developed by the MBI evidence specialist, along with a log of the evidence collected there. [T. 139-40; Exs. 10, 12]. A depiction of the vehicle and log evidence from the Pontiac at the hospital was generated as well. [T. 139-40; Exs. 11, 13].

Pathology

The deceased Randolph Sands had four gunshot wounds, two of which were lethal; the two fatal shots were to the right side of Randolph's back and were through and through, both having corresponding exit wounds at the abdomen. [T. 215-223, 227; Exs. 64, 78]. Of note, the two fatal wounds to Randolph Sands' back had "tattooing" indicating that the shots were fired at close, near contact, range, 8 to 10 inches, [T. 216-20; Exs. 64, 67, 68, 69].

The other decedent, Roberto McInnis, died on the way to the hospital, and was also shot four times, two of which were lethal; one shot to the right flank hit the spine and aorta and other organs; Roberto's other fatal shot entered at the left nipple piercing the left lung; there was no tattooing; two .45 caliber projectile fragments were found lodged by Roberto's left rib cage. [T. 228-36, 238-39, 242; Exs. 70, 72, 73, 74, 75, 77, 79]. Roberto's body tested positive for alcohol, .17 per cent. *Id*.

Jason McNair's Version of Events

The state's case was based largely on the testimony of Jason McNair. Jason said he met up with Randolph Sands and Roberto McInnis about 10:00 a. m. on July 7, 2006, and they hung out, watched television, rode around Prentiss in Randolph's brown Pontiac, visited friends, drank alcohol and smoked marijuana. [T. 260-69, 300-07, 311; Ex. 81]. They eventually ran into Rodney Sands, the appellant, on Highway 84 near the church where the incident happened. *Id*.

Randolph was driving the brown Pontiac, Roberto was in the back, and Jason was the front seat passenger. [T. 266, 335-36]. Rodney Sands was in a green Lexus. [T. 268]. Rodney flagged the Pontiac down. [T. 269, 311]. The Pontiac pulled into the church's semi-circular driveway off of Granby Road, followed by the Lexus. [T. 272]. The cars pulled up almost side by side in the driveway, Rodney was little behind to the left of the Pontiac, and both vehicles were generally pointed away from the church building and towards Highway 84. [T. 273-75, 316; Exs. 10, 80].

A conversation between Rodney and the three occupants of the Pontiac turned quickly to the topic of missing money. [T. 276]. Rodney indicated that he thought Jason,

Randolph and Roberto had taken some money from his home in an alleged burglary. [T. 276-77]. The accusation was denied by the three in the Pontiac. [T. 277-78]. The four men talked for about ten (10) minutes. [T. 278]. Rodney remained in his vehicle most of the time with his door open briefly coming over to the Pontiac at one point. [T. 284, 313]. Rodney eventually abandoned the idea of the three others admitting anything. *Id.* Rodney made no threats, and Jason felt no fear. [T. 313].

Jason testified that after talking with Rodney for about ten minutes, Aqui Demetrius Rhodes drove by on Highway 84 in a green Ford Explorer and returned to the church pulling up to the other vehicles with the front of the Explorer facing away from the highway with the driver's side by the Pontiac's driver's side, opposite from Rodney's Lexus. [T. 283, 285, 313, 316-17; Ex. 10, 80, 82].

Jason said Rhodes got out of the Explorer and approached the drivers side of the Pontiac and, referring to the men in the Pontiac, said, "Ya'll run up in my house and got my money." [T. 279-83]. There was more discussion and Jason testified the three in the Pontiac became agitated. [T. 317-18].

Jason testified that Rodney Sands, the appellant, continued to remain back at his vehicle. [T. 317]. Rhodes was asking the Pontiac occupants about the burglary of *his* home, not Rodney Sands' home. *Id.* When Rhodes walked up, he had no gun, and was shirtless. [T. 322, 338-39]. Jason said Rhodes eventually backed away from the Pontiac and retrieved a weapon from the Ford Explorer. [T. 322, 338-39, 344].

Then Jason said he heard shots coming from Rhodes' direction; Jason said he turned and saw Rodney Sands at the back of his car, the Lexus. [T. 285-86, 288-89]. Jason said when the shooting started, he got down, Randolph Sands, the driver of the Pontiac, was still in the car at this point. *Id*. Then, Jason said, shots started going off from everywhere.

Jason claimed not to have a gun. [T. 286, 322]. He said that Randolph Sands had no weapon. [T. 286, 293-94]. Jason said Roberto had a .40 caliber Kel-Tec which was found later in the back seat of the Pontiac at the hospital. [T. 286-87; Ex. 31]. Jason said he did not know whether Roberto shot at Rodney and Rhodes. [*Id.*, T. 340-41]. Jason could not explain the source of the .40 caliber shell casings in Pontiac. [T. 322; Exs. 32, 33, 38].

Jason said after the shooting started, he looked again towards the Lexus and saw Rodney Sands, the appellant, crouched down behind the Lexus with a "small" pistol. [T. 288-89]. However, Jason never saw Rodney shooting, or pointing a weapon, at any point. [T. 309-10, 334].

Jason said the shooting briefly subsided and he saw Rhodes and Rodney running towards the church, and about that time realized he had been shot in the buttocks or groin area. [T. 290, 294, 332-34, 346]. Jason said Rhodes then came back towards the Pontiac and started shooting towards the Pontiac. *Id.* Jason said he played dead. [T. 293-94].

At this point, according to Jason, Randolph, the driver, got out of the Pontiac, but,

Jason did not know where he went and thought he got away. [T. 294-95]. Jason looked in the back seat and saw Roberto was shot. [T. 294-95].

Jason claimed to be in shock, but was able to drive away with Rodney in the back, mortally wounded, Jason did not know where the hospital was, so he drove to a hamburger establishment and called 911 for directions on a cell phone that was in the car. [T. 294-95]. He then made his way to the hospital with Roberto in the back. *Id. Aqui Rhodes' Version*

Aqui Rhodes testified in his own defense and was the only other person to testify about the particulars of the shooting. Rhodes said that on the date of the incident, he was in his mother's Ford Explorer taking it to be washed and he also ran an errand. [T. 439]. On the way, Rhodes spotted Rodney Sands' car at the church, so he stopped to talk; Rhodes did not have a shirt on. [T. 439-40, 457]. Rhodes said he said he saw the Pontiac with Randolph in the driver's seat, Jason was the front passenger and Roberto was in the back; Rhodes was standing outside the Pontiac; Rodney was at his car on the other side. [T. 440-41].

When Rhodes came up, he said Rodney and the three were talking about a burglary at Rodney's house. [T.442-43]. Rhodes' house had also been burglarized about a week prior, so he asked the men in the Pontiac about his loss too. [T. 442]. Rhodes said he approached the Pontiac unarmed. [T. 443]. Rhodes did not know Rodney's house burglarized too until he overheard the conversation at the church [T. 482].

Rhodes said that when he got to the Pontiac, Jason McNair had a pistol on his lap, and, that he saw the butt of a pistol visible under Randolph Sands' leg. [T. 444]. Rhodes did not see McNair's gun. *Id*. Rhodes said the three occupants of the Pontiac always had guns and that he knew Roberto owned a .40 caliber automatic pistol. [T. 461-62, 464].

The three occupants of the Pontiac denied involvement in any burglaries, so Rhodes said he asked for any information they might have. [*Id.*, T. 487]. Rhodes said he was not threatening anyone. [T. 465]. Rhodes said Roberto became visibly upset in the back seat, shouting and yelling, and using profanity. [T. 445. 463-64]. Rhodes said, after Roberto got "amped up," Roberto said he was "ready to die". [T. 446].

While Rhodes was at the Pontiac driver side window, Rhodes said he heard the sound of a pistol chambering a round, or as he put it, "reversing." [T. 446-47, 465-66, 486]. Then Rhodes said he moved from the driver's window towards the rear window to get a better look at Robert and heard Rodney Sands say, "Cuz, I know you ain't pulling that pistol on me." *Id.*

According to Rhodes, Roberto then pointed his pistol at Rhodes' face and fired several shots as Rhodes jumped back. *Id.* The fist shot, Rhodes said, struck him in the right arm and he heard bullets hitting the Explorer behind him. [T. 447-48, 450, 467-68; Ex. 91]. There was damage to the Ford Explorer from the gunfire and a spent projectile was located in the driver's side door frame. [T. 451-53; Ex. 85, 87, 90.]. Rhodes put his hands over his face and backed all the way to the Explorer, retrieved a weapon, and

9

returned fire towards the Pontiac. [T. 448]. At that time Roberto was the only one shooting. *Id.* Rhodes did not know at that time where Rodney Sands was. *Id.*

Rhodes said after he retrieved his weapon and returned fire, he could not stay at his vehicle nor retreat because his driver's side was exposed to gunfire coming from the three occupants of the Pontiac. [T. 454, 468]. Rhodes said he ran to church with bullets still coming at him from the Pontiac. *Id.* Rhodes said bullets where coming at him out of the back window of the Pontiac as he ran towards the church. [T. 469, 495].

Randolph Sands then jumped out of car and ran towards the opposite side of the church. [T. 448, 469, 488-91]. So, Rhodes said he ran the other way. [T. 449].

When Rhodes made it to the church building, he said he saw Rodney Sands, the appellant, still behind the Lexus and saw Jason McNair halfway out of the Pontiac with a pistol aimed and firing at Rhodes. [*Id.*, T. 472].

Rhodes was afraid that Randolph would circle around the church and shoot him. *Id.* Rhodes said he did not run to woods because Randolph could have been coming from that direction too. [T. 470-71]. While Jason was shooting at him, Rhodes said he was able to run to the Explorer and leave. [T. 455, 472-73]. Rhodes was the first to leave. [T. 475].

Rhodes said, all told, he fired five (5) or six (6) shots in self defense. [T. 457]. Rhodes did not shoot his full clip. [T. 485]. Rhodes said his blood stained the seats of the Explorer. [T. 468; Ex. 92]. Afterwards, Rhodes went to a friend's house, Helen Moore, but did not go to a hospital to avoid retaliation from the men in the Pontiac and their families. [T. 455, 492]. He eventually left town after calling the sheriff the next day. [*Id.*, T. 457].

Rhodes testified that he had no plan or concerted effort with Rodney Sands. [T. 457]. Rhodes said he had no intent of doing any harm and considered all involved to be like family, brothers. [T. 457]. A few days prior, they had a barbeque. [T. 457]. Rhodes testified there was no communication with Rodney before the incident. [T. 476]. According to Rhodes, Rodney Sands never threatened anyone and did not have a gun. [T. 475, 484].

Helen Moore corroborated Rhodes, testifying that Rhodes showed up at her house on July 7, 2007, wounded, bleeding and, looking "awful"; she offered to take him to the hospital, but he left before she could change clothes. [T. 499]. Ms. Moore remembered the date because of a 4th of July family reunion. [T. 500].

Some Background

There is no dispute that all of the persons involved in this incident were close friends with several family connections. Jason McNair was related to McInnis and was friends with everyone else. [T. 256-60, 438]. The two Sands and Aqui Rhodes were cousins of undetermined degree. *Id.* Randolph Sands was often referred to as "Pee Wee" *Id.* McInnis was called "Bird Man". *Id.* Demetrius Aqui Rhodes answered to "Silk." *Id.* Rodney Sands was called "Cheesy." [T. 281]. Rodney even lived Roberto. [T. 474].

Ballistics

The state's ballistics expert concluded that the four (4) .40 caliber shell casings found in the Pontiac were all fired in the same weapon, that is, by the pistol found in the back seat of the Pontiac where Roberto McInnis was sitting. [T. 369, 374]. One of the examined projectiles (Expert's No. 30) was also fired from this weapon. *Id*.

The ballistics expert also said that fourteen (14) of the .45 shell casings found in the Pontiac and at the church were all fired from the same weapon. [T. 369-372, 374].

The six .45 caliber projectiles (3 from the Pontiac, 1 from the ground at the church, and 2 from Roberto's body) were all fired from the same weapon. [T. 369-72, 375, 377; Ex. 83]². However, since no .45 weapon was recovered, no matching .45 pistol was ever developed. [T. 369, 375, 377]. Therefore, no determination could be made if more than one .45 caliber weapon was involved, nor whether the same weapon fired the .45 shells and also the .45 caliber projectiles. [T. 369, 377].

Aqui Rhodes' Explorer

A week after the shooting on July 13, 2006, Jefferson Davis County Investigator Ronnie Barnes and the Sheriff were advised of the location of Rhodes' vehicle in a wooded area. [T. 382-83; Ex. 85]. Rhodes testified that he had abandoned the Explorer

2

Exhibit 83, the report of the ballistics expert, was not included in the clerk's papers submitted in the record. There is a notation by the clerk "number accidently skipped." However, the transcript index and the transcript itself identify the exhibit and show that it was admitted into evidence. [T. Vol. 3 at vi, Vol. 5 at 370].

on the side of the road, and did not know how it got in the woods. [T. 494].

The Explorer was located, towed in, and secured and then searched actually about five weeks later on August 25 or 26th. *Id.* The delay was due to Barnes' running for circuit clerk and having to prepare cases for an upcoming grand jury. [T. 384]. A projectile was extracted from the Explorer's passenger side door panel, but Investigator Barnes never turned the projectile over for ballistic testing stating that in his non-expert opinion, the fragment was too mutilated for analysis. [T. 382, 388, 390-91].

Barnes said the MBI was advised of the discovery of Rhodes' vehicle and the projectile, but no one ever came to process any of these for evidence. [T. 391-92]. The apparent blood stains in the Explorer were never sampled or analyzed either. [T. 400]. Barnes could not explain why the Pontiac was processed but not the Explorer. [T. 407]. *Rodney Sands and Rhodes In Custody*

Rodney Sands turned himself in with counsel on July 12, 2006. [T. 385]. Sands allegedly advised police of an alibi defense which turned out to be for the wrong time. [T. 426-29]. Rhodes was arrested in Green Bay, Wisconsin, August 22, 2007.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The evidence establishes that Rodney Sands was merely present when Aqui Rhodes and the others became involved in a shooting incident arising from an argument about a burglary; so, the trial court should have granted Rodney Sands' motion for directed verdict, or, should have sustained his post-trial motion for judgment of acquittal notwithstanding the verdict or for new trial. Sands was prejudiced by alleged bad character evidence. Sands was likewise prejudiced by a jury instruction on aiding and abetting. Juror misconduct taints the verdict. The trial court did not have jurisdiction for entry of a conviction of Rodney Sands on Count 3 for aggravated assault, because, the indictment was defective. Alternatively, Rodney Sands is entitled to a new trial for ineffective assistance of counsel.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER RODNEY SAND'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUSTAINED?

Considering a motion for directed verdict, if the evidence and reasonable inferences therefrom "point in favor of the defendant on any element of the offense with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty," the single remedy for an appellate court is to reverse and render. *Edwards v. State*, 469 So. 2d 68, 70 (Miss. 1985). See also *Carr v. State*, 208 So. 2d 889, 889 (Miss. 1968), *Foster v. State*, 919 So. 2d 12, 15 (Miss. 2005), and *Hall v. State*, 644 So. 2d 1223, 1228 (Miss. 1994).

Under this issue, the appellate court should review the "lower court's ruling on the sufficiency of the evidence based on the evidence before the court at the time the last

challenge was made." *McClain v. State*, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993), *Scarborough v. State*, 956 So. 2d 382, 385-86 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). The question then is whether there was evidence to support a conclusion, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Rodney committed the act charged, *i. e.* manslaughter, and "that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed," if not, the evidence is insufficient to support the conviction. *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 843(¶ 16) (Miss.2005). All evidence and reasonable inferences reasonably available therefrom are to be viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict. *McClain*, 625 So. 2d at 778.

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