IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RODNEY SANDS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-1186-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

THERE WAS AMPLE EVIDENCE FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DENY THE MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT.

There was evidence of every element of the offense and no defense presented.

II.

THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE JURY VERDICTS.

The evidence was both physical exhibits and testimonial evidence and reasonable inference.

III.

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE GIVING OF THE AIDING AND ABETTING INSTRUCTION.

There was evidence that defendant Sands was holding or engaging the occupants of the for co-defendant Rhodes.

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN OVERRULING THE OBJECTION TO WITNESS TESTIMONY OF DEFENDANT'S ILLICIT DRUG USE.

The testimony was in response to cross of defense counsel and was not of such character to deny defendant a fair trial.

V.

THE TRIAL COURT DEALT WITH CLAIMS OF JUROR MISCONDUCT CLEARLY AND ON THE RECORD.

The trial court dealt with the issue, at the time, succinctly and on the record.

VI. THE INDICTMENT, AS AMENDED, IS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT TO CHARGE AGGRAVATED ASSAULT.

Amending the indictment is permitted and the charge proper.

VII. DEFENDANT HAD EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

None of the alleged deficiencies overcome the presumptive effectiveness of trial counsel.

ARGUMENT

T.

THERE WAS AMPLE EVIDENCE FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DENY THE MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT.

In this initial allegation of error defendant asserts the trial court erred in denying the motion for directed verdict.

¶ 14. Reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and "giv[ing] the State the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence" we find that fair-minded jurors could have found that Gary, having fired the 9 millimeter pistol, was the one who fired the fatal bullet. Jordan, 936 So.2d at 373(¶ 24). In firing his pistol across a crowded parking lot, the jury found that Gary possessed "the conscious and wanton or reckless disregard of the probabilities of fatal consequences to others as the result of the willful creation of an unreasonable risk" required to convict him of manslaughter by culpable negligence. Campbell v. State, 285 So.2d 891, 893 (Miss.1973). We find that there was sufficient evidence to support that conclusion.

Gary v. State, 11 So.3d 769, 773 (Miss.App. 2009).

The crux of defendant Sands argument is, as stated on page 15 of defendant's brief – "Yet, there was no testimony that Rodney fired a shot or even pointed his pistol. There was no physical evidence that Rodney was firing a weapon."

Well, on one page alone, elicited from Jason McNair during cross-examination comes the testimonial evidence, that made it a question for the jury. "I seen him with his gun" and "It was pointed." Tr. 309. On page 310 of the transcript the witness again says he saw defendant Sands with a gun, – but also that he never say him fire

the gun. Even earlier in the transcript on pages 287 & 289 there was testimony of seeing Sands with a gun – a black gun, shooting was going on and there was Sands behind his car with a gun and bullets hitting the car with passengers inside.

It is the position of the State there was ample evidence of defendant's being involved and firing shots. Such is legally sufficient to uphold a manslaughter conviction.

Next counsel argues there was insufficient evidence of "heat of passion" to support a manslaughter conviction. The manslaughter statute is disjunctive so here we have proof of use of a deadly weapon. (See above).

¶ 8. Martin's argument centers on two propositions. First, she claims that the State failed to prove that the killing was done in "a cruel or unusual manner" within the meaning of the statute. Miss.Code Ann. § 97-3-35 (Rev. 2000). The entire argument on this point consists of a one sentence statement of the proposition. We note that the statute contemplates alternative theories to sustain a manslaughter conviction in that the crime may be charged as a killing in "a cruel or unusual manner" or "by use of a deadly weapon." Miss.Code Ann. § 97-3-35 (Rev.2000). "It is a general rule that where a statute denounces as an offense two or more distinctive acts, things, or transactions enumerated therein in the disjunctive, the whole may be charged conjunctively and the defendant found guilty of either one." Lenoir v. State, 237 Miss. 620, 623, 115 So.2d 731, 732 (1959). We conclude that the use of a knife to stab the victim to death, if found to have been done in the heat of passion without malice and not in necessary self-defense, would be sufficient evidence to convict of manslaughter through the use of a deadly weapon without the necessity of a specific finding that the stabbing was undertaken in a cruel or unusual manner.

Martin v. State, 818 So.2d 380, 382 (Miss.App. 2002).

Accordingly, here where we have a deadly weapon there must be evidence of heat of passion. So, again the transcript and the trial court noted shows evidence of a brooding defendant Sands, long 'discussion'—heated demanding money taken from his home, approaching the car armed and confrontational. It is interesting, if the trial court had denied the granting of a manslaughter instruction there would also be sufficient facts to support that decision as well. The evidence could support a murder conviction and most assuredly supports the jury arriving at the conclusion of defendant Sand's guilt in the killings as manslaughters.

Based on the evidence and reasonable inferences there is ample evidence to support the jury's verdicts of guilty. Consequently, no relief should be granted on this allegation of error.

II.

THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE JURY VERDICTS.

In this claim of error counsel carefully challenges the weight of the evidence alone. Basically claiming one of the witnesses, Jason McNair, is a liar and dishonest. Also, there is a considerable claim that there were no shell casings found where defendant Sands was stopped behind his vehicle. (There was testimony that he had a gun and was pointing it.)

So, interestingly, no one seems to know what kind of gun defendant Sands had. We do know it was...just a gun, – a black gun. A reasonable inference could be it was a revolver, as the expert explained the shell casing never leaves the gun if the weapon is a revolver. Tr. 205-06.

Also, Sands never presented any evidence in his defense. He did, apparently have a short lived claim of alibi, which was quickly dispelled when investigated. So there is not a question of whether the weight of the evidence overcame the defense evidence. There was no defense.

And, as noted above there was evidence of defendant with a gun, pointing it, shots being fired, his anger over being robbed. Appellate counsel would have us believe that co-defendant Rhodes was correct when he said Sands didn't have a gun. But then have us disbelieve witness McNair and essentially make McNair the shooter.

The jury heard it all and was instructed on the role of the aider and abettor. Instruction 5 as given, Tr. 507-509. Just being a participant wasn't enough. There was evidence that two men almost independently committed these crimes simultaneously. There were certainly enough weapons and evidence to support two or more guns. There was also evidence, that both defendant's were within a few feet of the car, at the window and could have caused some of the fatal wounds.

¶ 6. Testimony was presented that Anderson was seen with a gun. He began to pull the gun out of his pants either immediately after getting knocked to the floor of the In and Out Club or immediately before. At least one witness, Bevie Bingham, saw "fire" coming from the muzzle of the gun. The bullet casings were identified as likely coming from a Glock. A witness identified Anderson's gun as a Glock. While there was also testimony that at least one other person drew a gun inside the club that night, that testimony goes to the weight which the jury gives the various pieces of evidence. Obviously, by returning a verdict of guilty, the jury decided to give that testimony less weight than the testimony supporting the guilt of Anderson. We do not find that evidence of the presence of another gun would cause reasonable doubt and fair minded jurors to find Anderson not guilty.

There is a similar standard of review when we must review the weight of the evidence. In determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial. Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal. As such, if the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, then a new trial is proper

Baker v. State, 802 So.2d 77, 81(¶ 14) (Miss.2001) (quoting Dudley v. State, 719 So.2d 180, 182(¶ 8) (Miss.1998)). Our finding concerning the weight of the evidence is the same as to the challenge of the sufficiency of the evidence. The jury heard evidence that Anderson was the shooter. They also heard evidence that other persons brandished guns that night. There are many factors that go into the weight a jury gives the testimony it hears during a trial-the appearance of a witness, his or her manner of speech, body language, etc. We are not in a place to judge all of these factors and can only review what is on the record. Looking at the record, we do not find sufficient reason to declare the verdict was against the weight of the evidence. Similarly, there was enough evidence presented for us to *653 say that the verdict was not the result of any bias, prejudice, or passion.

Anderson v. State, 856 So.2d 650, 652 -653 (Miss.App. 2003).

Sub judice, as in *Anderson* there was conflicting evidence; – there was evidence of other shooters. There was direct testimony and other answers to very specific questions to the contrary.

All told taking all the evidence and all the death and injury, the jury reached the correct conclusion. No relief should be granted based on this allegation of error.

III.

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE GIVING OF THE AIDING AND ABETTING INSTRUCTION.

At trial Jason McNair testified that Rodney Sands told the occupants of the car they could just tell their story to co-defendant Rhodes, also known as 'Silk'. Tr. 281-281.

It is the succinct position of the State such is sufficient factual basis to support the giving of an aiding and abetting instruction.

¶ 31. In Mississippi, "any person who is present at the commission of a criminal offense and aids, counsels, or encourages another in the commission of that offense is an aider and abettor and is equally guilty with the principal offender." Swinford v. State, 653 So.2d 912, 915 (Miss.1995). Jury instructions may not be given unless there is some evidentiary basis in the record with which to support them. Perry v. State, 637 So.2d 871, 877 (Miss.1994). According to the victim and another eyewitness, Shabazz was alone and pulled the trigger, severely injuring Brown. Shabazz, on the other hand, testified that while he planned the whole incident, he only meant for Noray to shoot the car. Either way, the court did not err in granting instruction S-1M and the language contained therein that Shabazz, acting alone or in concert, committed aggravated assault on Riva Brown. This issue has no merit.

Shabazz v. State 729 So.2d 813, 824 (Miss.App. 1998).

While the State can honestly state it wishes the trial court had not used the word confusing, the instruction is not utterly confusing or hopelessly confusing and when read with the other instructions it correctly and succinctly defines the law regarding aiding and abetting.

¶ 18. "'When considering a challenge to a jury instruction on appeal, we do not review jury instructions in isolation; rather, we read them as a whole to determine if the jury was properly instructed.' "Milano v. State, 790 So.2d 179, 184(¶ 14) (Miss.2001) (quoting Burton ex rel. Bradford v. Barnett, 615 So.2d 580, 583 (Miss.1993)). "[I]f all instructions taken as a whole fairly, but not necessarily perfectly, announce the applicable rules of law, no error results." Milano, 790 So.2d at 184(¶ 14). When read together, the instructions in this case set forth an adequate statement of the law on aiding and abetting. Therefore, this issue lacks merit.

Schankin v. State, 910 So.2d 1113, 1119 (Miss.App. 2005).

In conclusion, there was a factual basis in the testimony and by inference the time line of facts and actions of the defendants to support the granting of the State's aiding and abetting instruction. While the judge probably found the facts and the argument presented a bit confusing, the instruction as presented and when read with the other correctly stated the law.

No relief should be given based on this allegation of error.

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN OVERRULING THE OBJECTION TO WITNESS TESTIMONY OF DEFENDANT'S ILLICIT DRUG USE.

Defendant Sands makes the same argument, being similarly situated regarding the comment about illicit drub use.

During redirect the State asked about the witness smoking marijuana with both defendant's... the witness said he had. Defense objected. Tr. 347-48. The judge overruled the objection, probably because it was defense counsel, during his cross-examination of this witness, had specifically gone in to his illicit drug use and with whom he used. Tr. 303-304. This was defense strategy to impeach the witness testimony and to attack the credibility based upon impaired perception.

Then on re-direct the State pointed out that the witness had also smoked with both the defendant's. This was to show that everyone was friends, knew each other. There was also evidence they had been at a barbecue earlier in the week. Tr. 457.

After that mention on page 347-348, there was another brief mention in closing at page 540, that the witness also smoked with the defendants.

Also again, during closing, defense mentioned the witness' use of marijuana, Tr.541, 560. And, actually the testimony bolstered the contention of defendant that he knew these guys, they were just having a discussion, they were all friends and knew each other.

It is the contention of the State that the mention of illicit drug use was not to impeach the defendant's but to show familiarity with all the players on that day.

¶20. The State's questions regarding Enlow's use of or involvement with drugs is a different matter. We can discern no reason why this line of questioning should have been pursued. At the same time we do not believe, given the strong case against Enlow, that the questions asked him by the State regarding his use of or involvement with drugs caused him to be denied a fair trial. Nor do we believe that the results would have been different in the absence of the questions. After all, Enlow denied categorically the questions asked, and the State did not offer any evidence rebutting Enlow denials. Consequently, we find no merit in this claimed error.

Enlow v. State, 878 So.2d 1111, 1116 -1117 (Miss.App. 2004).

While it is the contention of the State it was not error, arguendo, even if this court holds such limited testimonial evidence to be error it would be harmless under the rationale expressed in *Enlow*. This defendant was not denied a fundamentally fair trial.

No relief should be granted on this allegation of error.

V.

THE TRIAL COURT DEALT WITH CLAIMS OF JUROR MISCONDUCT CLEARLY AND ON THE RECORD.

It is worth noting that the trial court was made aware early on in the trial process of claims of juror misconduct and made note of same in order denying the motion for new trial. (Tr. 190-91).

Also the State searched the transcript and can only find Jackie Coleman's name mentioned twice (tr. 72 & 354, et seq) – and it was not discussing her relation, if any, to the Mother of one of the victim's. There is just nothing in the record to support this argument on appeal.

The trial court as noted in his order, and as supported by the record (i.e., Tr. 354) dealt with each and every claim during trial of juror misconduct.

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